Second United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea

Geneva, Switzerland
17 March — 26 April 1960

Document:-
A/CONF.19/C.1/SR.21

Twenty-First Meeting of the Committee of the Whole
Extract from the Official Records of the Second United Nations Conference on the Law of

the Sea (Summary Records of Plenary Meetings and of Meetings of the Committee of the Whole,
Annexes and Final Act)

Copyright © United Nations
2009



Twenty-first meeting — 8 April 1960

121

TWENTY-FIRST MEETING
Friday, 8 April 1960, at 11.30 a.m.

Chairman: Mr. Jos¢ A. CORREA (Ecuador)

Consideration of the questions of the breadth of the
territorial sea and fishery limits in accordance with
resolution 1307 (XIII) adopted by the General Assembly
on 10 December 1958 (continued)

GENERAL DEBATE (continued)

Statements by Mr. Dean (United States of America),
Mr. Drew (Canada), Mr. Caabasi (Libya) and
Mr. Rafael (Israel)

1. Mr. DEAN (United States of America) said that, in
response to what had proved to be the overwhelming
desire of the States taking part in the Conference, the
delegations of Canada and the United States of America
had withdrawn their separate proposals (A/CONF.19/
C.1/L.3 and L.4) and were now submitting a joint proposal

(A/CONF.19/C.1/L.10) on behalf of the two Govern-
ments. The new proposal on the breadth of the terri-
torial sea and fishery limits had been worked out in
consultation with the delegations of both coastal and
fishing States to meet the widely recognized need for a
single proposal capable of securing the overwhelming
support of the Conference.

2. The joint proposal provided for a maximum limit of
six miles for the breadth of the territorial sea, and for
an exclusive fishing zone contiguous to the territorial
sea, extending twelve miles from the baseline. It would
also permit foreign States whose nationals had made a
practice of fishing in the outer six-mile zone during the
five years preceding 1 January 1958 to continue to do
so for a period of ten years from 31 October 1960.

3. The two Governments believed that the proposal
would meet the wishes of coastal States, especially those
of the newer countries, whose desire to obtain exclusive
fishing jurisdiction over a zone extending for twelve
miles from their coasts had long been viewed with
sympathetic concern by the Canadian and United States
Governments. The United States Government wished to
thank the many delegations which had expressed sup-
port for its original proposal, and to state that the
withdrawal of that proposal had been prompted by its
earnest search for an acceptable balance between the
interests of all nations with regard to the law of the
sea, and thus to promote the success of the Conference.
The work of the first United Nations Conference on the
Law of the Sea and the discussions of the past three
weeks had progressively narrowed the probable area of
final agreement, and the proposals submitted to the
present Conference had clearly indicated the kind of
compromise needed to secure the necessary two-thirds
majority. It seemed plain, for instance, that no proposal
permitting a twelve-mile territorial sea would command
such support, whereas the new joint proposal would,
in his view, satisfy the immediate needs and future aspira-
tions of coastal States, while at the same time protecting
foreign fishing from unnecessary or precipitate injury,
and would therefore have an appeal wide enough to
ensure its adoption by the Conference. In submitting
the proposal, he wished to pay a tribute to the unselfish
efforts of the delegations which had helped to make the
compromise possible, especially those of Canada,
Pakistan, Australia, Norway and Brazil.

4. He emphasized that the United States Government
was making two important concessions in agreeing to
impose a time-limit on foreign fishing rights within the
six-to-twelve-mile zone, and in agreeing to a period of
ten years only for the continuance of such rights. For
countries, like his own, which fundamentally preferred
to keep a three-mile limit for the territorial sea without
a contiguous fishing zone, the joint proposal went much
more than half way towards meeting the countries that
advocated a territorial sea twelve miles wide. With
regard to fishing jurisdiction, the concession was almost
complete, or would be so after a relatively short lapse
of time.

5. He drew attention to the fact that, when the territorial
sea was extended from three to six miles, the area of
territorial waters increased in geometrical proportion,
while the presence of islands, each surrounded by its
own territorial sea, also added greatly to the over-all



122

Meetings of the Committee of the Whole

area of off-shore jurisdiction. Even in the case of the
United States of America, which had relatively few
off-shore islands, an extension of the breadth of the
territorial sea from three to six miles would increase its
area from 17,300 to 37,500 square miles. Using a straight
baseline, as agreed upon at the first Conference, the
presence of deep indentations and associated off-shore
islands would allow a further appreciable sea area to
be incorporated as an integral part of a State. Thus, a
six-mile territorial sea, measured from a straight baseline,
might take away from the existing high seas a zone
averaging four, five or six miles in breadth.

6. The simplicity of the new joint proposal should
commend it to those delegations which had foreseen
practical difficulty in giving effect to certain of the
provisions of the original United States proposal. If
various amendments suggested to the original United
States proposal had not been incorporated in the joint
proposal, it was not because they had not been found
worthy but only because the new text seemed to contain
all the necessary ingredients of a compromise formula
according to the general view. His delegation believed,
however, as it had stated earlier, that the case of special
situations where there was overwhelming dependence
on fisheries within the twelve-mile zone merited the
sympathetic consideration of the Conference. The new
text did not specifically mention bilateral or multilateral
fishing agreements. It had been assumed that the final
instrument would include an article similar to article 25
of the 1958 Convention on the Territorial Sea and the
Contiguous Zone, to the general effect that conventions
or other international agreements already in force would
not be affected by it. As regards future instruments,
the establishment of the basic rights of the coastal and
fishing States in the fisheries zone, as provided for in
the joint proposal, would not ipso facto settle all the
fisheries problems in that zone, since they varied from
place to place. The principles set forth in the joint
proposal would need to be implemented by such bilateral
or multilateral arrangements as would permit them to
be applied in an orderly and practical manner. Since
the compromise involved sacrifices on the part of both
fishing and coastal States in the interests of agreement,
his Government believed for that very reason that
arrangements for implementation should be negotiated
in a spirit of mutual accommodation and goodwill.

7. The date of 31 October 1960, from which foreign
fishing rights in the outer six-mile zone were to run
for ten years, had been chosen because the Conventions
adopted by the first Conference had been signed on
31 October 1958.

8. He did not underestimate or undervalue the fact
that the joint proposal involved a sacrifice of fundamental
principle and of large economic and human proportions
for those States, like his own, whose nationals had for
generations fished areas of the high seas up to the three-
mile limit; but without such sacrifice no international
agreement could be reached at the present Conference.
He would similarly remind those States which would
prefer to see a shorter period laid down for the continu-
ance of foreign fishing in the outer zone that, in the
view of nearly all delegations, it would be unfair, for
the sake of formulating a universal rule of law, to ter-
minate abruptly existing fishing practices on the high

seas on which countries, towns, villages, enterprises and
human families were to some extent — in many cases a
large extent — dependent. It was reasonable and just
to allow a period for necessary adjustment. The ten-year
period proposed, which was inadequate and deemed by
some unnecessarily harsh, could not be subject to reduc-
tion. Both sponsors were in fact agreed that it should
not be subject to alteration in either direction. He hoped
that the States which stood to benefit greatly by the new
rule would exercise restraint, in order to lighten the
burden of fishing States upon whom it would fall heavily.
He pointed out that in many cases exclusive coastal-
state jurisdiction would be granted immediately, owing
to the absence of any foreign fishing in the outer zone.
He hoped that the coastal States for which the rule
would involve some present sacrifice would come to
realize that, without some concession on their part, no
agreement would be possible at the present Conference.

9. The United States delegation sincerely believed that,
with reasonable flexibility on the part of the countries
concerned, and with a thoughtful regard for the success
of the Conference and the rule of law, the joint proposal
could bring the present efforts of all delegations to a
fruitful conclusion.

10. Before concluding, he wished to inform the Com-
mittee that the four Conventions and Optional Protocol
adopted at the first Conference had been favourably
reported out to the United States Senate by the Senate
Foreign Relations Committee.

11. Mr. DREW (Canada) said that his delegation had
withdrawn its own proposal (A/CONF.19/C.1/L.4) in
order to join the United States delegation in presenting a
compromise text, in the hope that it would offer a basis
for agreement. As he had stated at the 5th meeting, the
original Canadian and United States proposals had
sought to attain the same objective, the only important
difference between them having been in their treatment
of the problem raised by distant-water fishing already
long established. His delegation had never suggested
that an abrupt end should be put to such fishing, but
had consistently maintained that, given the variable
factors involved, the matter could best be dealt with
under bilateral or multilateral agreements that took
into account the different interests of the parties. On
the other hand, the United States delegation had
originally proposed that such rights be exercised in
perpetuity where fishing had been carried on for at
least five years prior to 1 January 1958.

12. During the discussion a number of representatives
had expressed the hope that the two proposals would
be reconciled so as to establish common ground for
supporters of a six-mile territorial sea and an additional
six-mile fishing zone. That purpose had now been
achieved in the new joint proposal (A/CONF.19/C.1/
L.10), which represented the kind of compromise that
made international agreements possible.

13. The Conference had been convened to draw up legal
rules governing two specific matters only, and the general
desire to reach agreement on those two issues of the
law of the sea still to be codified might well be frustrated
if there were any attempt to broaden the scope of the
discussion beyond the Conference’s terms of reference.
Nevertheless, his Government was anxious to recognize



Twenty-first meeting — 8 April 1960

123

the special problems of States particularly dependent
on fishing for the livelihood of their peoples, to which
workable and adequate safeguards to protect their fishing
resources were important.

14. The first two paragraphs of the joint proposal were
identical with the original Canadian proposal. The
third paragraph provided that States which had been
engaged in distant-water fishing in the waters of other
States for the requisite period might continue to do so
for another ten years. That provision, designed to meet
the views expressed during the discussion about the
need for a period of adjustment, did not change the
fundamental thesis originally advanced by the Canadian
delegation, and constituted a considerable concession by
the two sponsoring delegations. He would like here to
pay a tribute to the way in which the United States
delegation had helped to find a solution.

15. As in the case of the United States delegation, his
own would naturally have preferred its original proposal,
and had agreed to propose a period of ten years in the
belief that that would be the maximum acceptable to
States supporting the original Canadian proposal and
the minimum acceptable to those which would have
favoured the original United States text. The discussions
had clearly shown that the figure could not be regarded
as a bargaining counter. It represented a compromise
which he believed was reasonable in all the circumstances,
and which he hoped would receive general support.

16. One very important consideration to be borne in
mind was that there was virtually unanimous agreement
that there should be a fishing zone of up to twelve miles
from the baseline. The wide divergence of opinion that
persisted related to the delimitation of the territorial sea.
He earnestly appealed to countries which, for one reason
or another, had adopted a territorial sea of more than
six miles not to refuse categorically and in any circum-
stances to reduce that width. There was overwhelming
evidence to support his contention at the 5th meeting
that, in the majority of cases, States which had extended
their territorial sea to twelve miles had done so for the
sole purpose of asserting control over fishing at a time
when the concept of a fishing zone had not been accepted,
and when such an extension had provided the sole means
of establishing such authority. Full control over fishing
would now be acquired through the rights conferred in
the fishing zone. Surely, therefore, there could be no
question of conceding any established rights in accepting
the narrowest territorial sea supported by the over-
whelming majority of those countries which owned and
operated the peace-time air and sea transport of the
world.

17. Canada was one of the many countries engaged in
peaceful navigation by sea and air which still adhered
to a three-mile territorial sea. It would have greatly
preferred to see that limit maintained, but in an effort
to reach a compromise had indicated its willingness to
extend it up to the maximum reasonable figure. With
the adoption of a twelve-mile fishing zone, every State
would possess the means of essential fisheries control
without impairing the freedom of the high seas. Surely
six miles was more than enough for the territorial sea.
In no conceivable circumstances could his Government
be regarded as an aggressor, and it was convinced that
the territorial sea beyond six miles offered no advantage

from the point of view of defence under modern con-
ditions, but would conversely limit the freedom of
navigation and impose unnecessary burdens on coastal
States.

18. In conclusion, he expressed his gratitude for the
extremely useful suggestions made by representatives
from every part of the world both in the Committee
and in private discussion. Those States seeking agree-
ment in terms of a narrow territorial sea with a contigu-
ous fishing zone offering every measure of control which
did not interfere with the freedom of the high seas had
already made a great concession in accepting an exten-
sion of the territorial sea from three to six miles. As the
representative of one of the younger, and certainly one
of the most peace-loving, nations, he urged others to
meet it half way so as to demonstrate to the world
that the eighty-eight countries represented at the Con-
ference were not divided by arbitrary barriers or doctri-
naire views, but were prepared to reach agreement in
order to further the prosperity, peace and security of
mankind.

19. Mr. CAABASI (Libya) said that the International
Law Commission’s statement that international law did
not permit an extension of the territorial sea beyond
twelve miles 1 deserved the closest attention. Two schools
of thought had been ably defended in regard to the
delimitation of the territorial sea and the fishing zone.
The first was upheld mostly by the maritime Powers,
which maintained the three-mile limit but were ready
to compromise by extending the breadth of their terri-
torial sea to six miles, and by accepting a twelve-mile
fishing zone with or without exclusive fishing rights.
The second had been championed by States advocating
a breadth for the territorial sea of up to twelve miles,
with exclusive fishing rights within the same area. Both
groups were seeking to safeguard national security and
the living resources of their coastal waters, and neither
aimed to exceed a twelve-mile limit for either the terri-
torial sea or the fishing zone, thereby tacitly endorsing
the International Law Commission’s conclusion. The
only divergence of view lay in whether or not all nations
should establish a single uniform limit for the territorial
sea.

20. His delegation supported the principle contained in
article 1 of the sixteen-Power proposal (A/CONF.19/
C.1/L.6).

21. His delegation could not support article 3 in the
original United States proposal, and commended article 7
of the sixteen-Power proposal which was not designed
to protect so-called historic rights but allowed for the
regulation of matters of common interest.

22. Off-shore fishing was being developed in Libya as
one of the most productive sources of revenue and as
an economic resource both for internal use and for
export. Though the territorial sea had been established
at twelve miles by act of Parliament, foreign fishing
vessels were continually and illegally entering the terri-
torial sea to fish and to put down sponge divers. Those
were the tangible considerations which had led his
Government to extend the territorial sea up to twelve
miles, action which accorded with the International

1 Official Records of the General Assembly, Eleventh Session,
Supplement No. 9, p. 4.



124 Meetings of the Committee of the Whole

Law Commission’s opinion that ... in all cases where
the delimitation of the territorial sea was justified by
the real needs of the coastal State, the breadth of the
territorial sea was in conformity with international
law 7.2

23. The two conferences on the law of the sea convened
by the United Nations had opened a new epoch in the
progressive development of international law. For the
first time a great number of countries, old and new,
great and small, were participating in the elaboration
of a complete set of international rules. The diversity
of national interests between the advanced and the less
advanced countries should not be allowed to stand in
the way of better mutual understanding and the adapta-
tion of the rules of international law to modern con-
ditions.

24. Mr. RAFAEL (Israel), exercising his right of reply
to remarks made at the previous meeting, said that it
was unnecessary to reiterate well-known geographical
and historic facts. Israel was one of the four coastal
States on the Gulf of Agaba, and its position remained
the same as that stated by its Foreign Minister in the
United Nations General Assembly on 1 March 1957.3

The meeting rose at 12.30 p.m.

2 Ibid., p. 13.
3 Ibid., Eleventh Session, 666th plenary meeting.




	Main Menu
	Master File
	Document List

	Full Text Search
	Previous View
	Close Document



